

EUBS

European Underwater and Baromedical Society

UK Registered Charity No. 264970

Executive Office

c/o Mrs Kathleen Pye EUBS Membership Secretary & Treasurer 35, Sutherland Crescent Abernethy, Perth Perthshire PH2 9GA United Kingdom

Bank Account

IBAN: GB59 TSBS 3010 0100 3280 73

BIC: TSBSGB2AXXX

www.eubs.org secretary@eubs.org

CONSTITUTION

ARTICLE I - Name of the Organisation

The name of this Society shall be the European Underwater and Baromedical Society. The abbreviated name "EUBS" will be synonymous and may be used in lieu of the full name, provided the full name is mentioned at the first instance in each text where EUBS is used, in the form of "European Underwater and Baromedical Society (EUBS)". The Society is a Charity-at-Law according to the UK legislation.

ARTICLE II - Objectives

The objectives of this Society are

- To advance the science of underwater and hyperbaric medicine and related scientific disciplines, including hypobaric
 exposures and work in compressed gas, as well as hyperoxia, and to assist in the promotion of research in these fields
 and in the publication of the results of such research.
- To provide a forum for professional scientific communication among individuals and groups involved in basic and applied studies concerned with medical life sciences and human factors aspects of the diving, hypo- and hyperbaric and hyperoxic environment.
- To provide factual and scientifically correct information on underwater and hyperbaric medicine

The Society will do so by:

- 1. Striving to achieve and maintain co-operation between life sciences and other disciplines concerned with hyperbaric activity in the broadest sense.
- 2. Working for improved safety of all underwater and hyperbaric operations by advice and educational seminars on the medical and physiological hazards involved.
- 3. Organising an annual Scientific Meeting, during which medical, technical, nursing and organisational aspects of the underwater and hyperbaric activities will be discussed.
- 4. Publishing a scientific journal as specified in the Bylaws
- 5. Promotion of safe dive and occupational exposure to hypo- and hyperbaric environment
- 6. Promotion of scientific research in the field
- 7. To do all such other things as shall further the objectives of the Society.

ARTICLE III - Membership

All members of the Society shall be individuals and companies who have demonstrated a clear interest in the medical, life sciences and human factors aspects of the hyperbaric and hyperoxic environment. Members shall be elected in the manner prescribed in the Bylaws of the Society.



ARTICLE IV - Elected Officers

The elected officers of this Society shall be a President, a Vice-President, an honorary Secretary and an honorary Treasurer. The Vice-President is also the President-Elect.

All officers shall be elected every three years as prescribed in the Bylaws to serve for three consecutive years or until their successors are elected. New officers will assume office at the annual meeting of the Society. The powers and duties of the elected officers shall be those usually exercised by officers in such positions and any additional powers and duties which may be specified in the Bylaws.

ARTICLE V - Executive Committee

The governing body of the Society shall be an Executive Committee. The Executive Committee shall consist of the elected officers of the Society, the two most recent past presidents, and four Members-at-Large elected by the Society as prescribed in the Bylaws to serve in overlapping four year terms. Furthermore, the Webmaster of the EUBS website, the European Editor of the Journal, and a Liaison Officer shall be co-opted by the General Assembly and invited to each meeting of the Executive Committee. The President of the Society shall take the chair of the Executive Committee and the honorary Secretary shall also act as Secretary of the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee shall represent the Society in the conduct of all scientific and business affairs of the Society subject to the applicable provisions of the Bylaws.

ARTICLE VI - Meetings

The Society shall hold an annual scientific meeting at a time, place and manner to be decided by the Executive Committee. During the annual scientific meeting, a General Assembly will take place, for which each full member shall receive a formal invitation (either on paper or in electronic format, such as e-mail, publication on the website, or equivalent) at least 30 days prior to the General Assembly.

Other meetings may be convened as the Executive Committee may specify.

ARTICLE VII - Funds

Funds of the Society shall consist of income derived from annual dues, fees, grants, donations, or other sources. Annual dues may be levied upon the members of the Society as prescribed in the Bylaws. The honorary Treasurer shall collect, administer, disburse, record, and report the funds of the Society in accordance with the general direction of the Executive Committee.

ARTICLE VIII - Amendments

Amendments of this Constitution may be proposed by the Executive Committee or by the petition of any twenty (20) members presented to the Executive Committee at least one hundred (100) days before the annual meeting. All amendments so proposed shall be distributed by the honorary Secretary to the membership at least thirty (30) days before the General Assembly with or without the recommendation of the Executive Committee. Voting shall be by secure internet ballot and a voting period of at least thirty (30) days shall be allowed. The approval of at least threequarters of the members in good standing of the Society who vote upon the proposed amendment shall be required for its passage. No amendment shall be made to the Constitution which shall cause the Society to cease to be Charity-at-Law.

BYLAWS

RULE I - Nominations and Elections

At least one hundred (100) days in advance of the annual meeting, the Executive Committee shall prepare for approval a slate of nominees for all elected officers of the Society and for replacement of those Members-at-Large of the Executive Committee whose term of office will end at the annual meeting. Additional nominations, if sponsored by at least fifteen (15) members, may be made by petition to the honorary Secretary of the Society at least one hundred (100) days in advance of the annual meeting provided that such petition include the name of the nominee, the office for which nominated, nominees' written consent to serve if elected, and the signatures of the fifteen (15) sponsors.

At least sixty (60) days prior to the General Assembly, the honorary Secretary shall report the recommendations of the Executive Committee and all other nominations received by petition in a format suitable for balloting. All Full Members in good standing shall be eligible to vote. Voting shall be by secure internet ballot and a voting period of at least thirty (30) days shall be allowed. Elections shall be by simple majority. The honorary Secretary shall announce the results of the balloting at the annual meeting, and the new officers and members-at-large of the Executive Committee shall assume office immediately thereafter.

RULE II - Membership

Members of the Society shall be individuals or companies who have demonstrated by their activities and professional contributions a clear interest in the medical, life sciences, or human factors aspects of the undersea environment and/or hyperbaric oxygen therapy. Prospective members shall, as a minimum requirement, be graduates with training or experience in the medical or life sciences.

Waivers of this requirement will be granted where an applicant's special contributions or accomplishments appear to warrant such action.

Each applicant for Society membership shall submit an application in writing, stating his name, address, education, experience, place of employment, and (for full and undergraduate members) names with contact info of two (2) Society members who could support this application. This Application Form shall be easily accessible through the EUBS website, and shall clearly explain the various categories of membership, their rights and duties, and the membership fee. The application shall be forwarded by the honorary Secretary to the Executive Committee. Applicants shall be notified of approval of their application by the Executive Committee or if five members of the Executive Committee without having a formal meeting agree, and membership in the Society shall be conferred upon payment of one year's annual dues to the honorary Treasurer of the Society.

The following membership categories shall be distinguished:

- 1. Full Members: Full Members will have voting rights, will benefit from a reduced registration rate at the annual scientific meeting, and from all other membership privileges, such as: subscription to the scientific journal, internet access to the "members only" pages of the EUBS website, and, as part of (current and/or future) affiliations with other scientific societies in the same or related areas of interest, may benefit from reduced membership or attendance fees for said societies.
- 2. Undergraduate Members: Undergraduate Members of the Society shall be students registered at a university or equivalent educational institution, pursuing a course of studies in medical, life sciences or human factors engineering faculties. They will have the same benefits as Full Members (except voting rights), but will benefit from a reduced membership fee.
- 3. Corporate Members: Corporate Members are companies, societies or hyperbaric centres that wish to support EUBS by contributing a corporate membership fee. As a recognition of their support, a permanent web-link will be placed on the EUBS website (in the separate "Corporate Members" page) and they will be formally recognised on screen during the annual scientific meeting and with a mention and logo in the Annual Scientific Meeting Abstract and Proceedings Book. Corporate membership fee will include two memberships (membership type depending on the category of the selected persons) and a free choice of their two beneficiaries for the reduced registration rate at the Annual Meeting.
- 4. Associate Members: Associate Members do not need to be active in the medical or scientific field of diving or hyperbaric medicine. They will receive the scientific journal but have no other membership benefits. On the other hand, their membership application is not subject to prior approval by the EUBS Executive Committee.
- 5. Honorary Members. The Executive Committee is empowered to elect a limited number of Honorary Members. These can include emeritus members (retired persons after 10 years' membership). Honorary Members should apply each year for renewal of their membership, which must be approved by the Executive Committee.

RULE III Affiliates

The Society recognises the value of formal affiliation with other organisations whose purposes are consistent with those of Article II of the Constitution of this Society. The Executive Committee of the Society shall have the authority to negotiate agreements for affiliation with such other organisations.

RULE IV - Meetings of the Executive Committee

The Executive Committee shall have a least one regular meeting each year, at the time and location chosen by the President.

A special meeting of the Executive Committee may also be called by the President at a time and a place designated by him. These meetings may take place using electronic means (phone conference, video conferencing, web conferencing), or in person. A special meeting of the Executive Committee shall be called by the honorary Secretary upon the written request of three (3) members of the Executive Committee. At any duly convened meeting of the Executive Committee four (4) members shall constitute a quorum.

RULE V - Duties of Officers

President.

The President shall be the chief executive officer of the Society and preside at all meetings of it and of the Executive Committee.

Vice President.

The Vice-President will assist the President in executing the scientific and business affairs of the Society. In the event that the President is absent or unable to act, the Vice-President shall serve as President for such period. The Vice-President is also the President-Elect.

Honorary Secretary.

The honorary Secretary shall perform such duties as are customary to his office: will maintain the membership records of the Society, will prepare minutes of meetings, and will report to the membership on such matters as nominations, elections, proposed dues change, and proposed amendments to the Constitution as prescribed in these Bylaws.

Honorary Treasurer.

The honorary Treasurer shall be the custodian of the funds of the Society and shall be responsible for the collection of membership dues, for the maintenance and the periodic reporting of financial records, and for the disbursement of monies.

RULE VI Committees

In addition to the Executive Committee, the committees of the Society may include as required:

- 1. Liaison Committee: This committee shall be tasked to establish and maintain contacts with other organisations (Affiliate and others), and to advise the Executive Committee of matters arising from these contacts.
- 2. Programme Committee. This committee shall be responsible for choosing the subjects for presentation and discussion at the scientific meetings of the Society, and for selecting the speakers for such meetings and for supervising the conduct of these scientific programmes.
- 3. Publications Committee. This committee shall advise on the publication of the proceedings of the scientific meetings of the Society as well as other papers or documents according to the objectives.
- 4. Other Committees. The Executive Committee may create special committees or such other committees as he may deem necessary with such membership and for such periods of time as he may consider appropriate. The President may invite members of committees other than the Executive Committee to report at a specific meeting of the Executive Committee.

RULE VII - Membership Dues - Financial matters

The Financial Year for the EUBS shall run from January 1st till December 31st of each calendar year.

Dues for members of the Society shall be proposed by the Executive Committee and approved by the membership during the Annual General Assembly. Approval shall be by a simple majority of those members present and voting on such a change of dues.

Dues will be payable annually on the date of expiration of membership. If dues have not been paid one month after expiration of membership, the person shall no longer be a member in good standing and will automatically be removed from membership of the Society.

The Society can use its funds for the realisation of Objectives as defined in the Constitution, for enhancing the Society, for the organisation of the scientific meetings of the Society, for awards to Society members for their scientific achievements, for support of scientific research of Society members in the form of grants, for publication of the scientific journal of the Society, for developing and maintaining of the Society website, for operational costs of the Society and for support of other Charities or Societies when compatible with EUBS Objectives.

Rule VIII Publication of a Journal

The Society will, by agreement, publish a journal jointly by the EUBS and the South Pacific Underwater Medicine Society. This agreement will be defined by a written contract between both Societies. The President of the EUBS, acting on behalf of the Executive Committee, will sign additional written contracts, amongst others a contract between the Societies and the Journal Editor.

Financial matters regarding to the production and distribution of the Journal will be discussed in the Executive Committee, but may be delegated to a separate Journal Governance Committee, of which the members are designated by the Executive Committee, if both Societies so desire.

Each EUBS member category benefits, by definition, from a subscription to the Journal.

RULE IX - Disposal of Assets

In the event of the lawful dissolution of the Society, following the payment of all just debts and obligations of the Society, the Executive Committee shall designate one or more charitable organisations having objectives similar to this Society to receive the remaining assets of the Society.

RULE X - Amendments

Amendments to these Bylaws may be proposed by the Executive Committee or by petition of any fifteen (15) members presented to the Executive Committee at least one hundred (100) days before the annual meeting. All proposed amendments shall be distributed to the membership by the Secretary at least thirty (30) days before the General Assembly with or without recommendations of the Executive Committee. Voting shall be by secure internet ballot and a voting period of at least thirty (30) days shall be allowed. The approval of at least two-thirds of the members of the Society who vote upon the proposed amendment shall be necessary for its passage.

No amendment shall be made to the Bylaws which shall cause the Society to cease to be a Charity-at-law.

UK Registered Charity No. 264970

Constitution and Bylaws modified by the General Assembly of the European Underwater and Baromedical Society, in 2021.